I. INTRODUCTION. 

The instant appeal is taken from two Orders entered by the trial 

court in Nor/hwest Wholesale, Inc. v. Puc Organic Fruil, LI,C, et al., 

Chelan County Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-005 14-0: 

1. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting 

Motion to Dismiss Count VIII of Ostensons' Amended Crossclaims and 

Third Party Complaint, entered on October 3, 2012; and 

2. Order Denying Ostensons' Motion for Reconsideration, 

entered on February 14,201 3. 

The litigation stems from the deliberate and improper dismantling 

of a limited liability company, Pac Organic Fruit, LLC ("Pac-On), by 

Respondents Greg Holzman, Inc. ('"GI-II")', Greg Holzman and Total 

Organic LLC ("'Total Organic"). Appellants Harold Ostenson and Shirley 

Ostenson held a 49% membership interest in Pac-0 while GHI held a 5 1% 

membership interest. GNI, in turn was owned by Mr. Holzman. 

Mr. Holzman was a fruit broker fro111 San Francisco, California 

who was doing business in Washington State. In 1997, he was introduced 

to Mr. and Mrs. Ostenson who were owners of a small Washington State 

orchard and pacliing plant. Mr. I-Iolzman approached the Ostensons to 

start a joint venture paclting business in Washington State. Pac-O was 

' Now known as Purity Organic Products. 
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formed on June 1, 1998 to operate a facility owned by the Ostensons to 

pack and store organic fruit. Mr. Ostenson ran the day to day operations 

of t l~e  facility. Mrs. Ostenso~l was the bookl<eeper. The organic fruit 

paclted and stored by Pac-O was sold primarily through GHI, a San 

Francisco company owned by Mr. Holzman. 

In 2004, GHI was experiencing substantial business setbacks 

which resulted in serious cash flow problems. As a result, GI11 began 

withholding proceeds from sales of organic frnit whicl~ rightfully belonged 

to Pac-0. This, in turn, caused cash flow problems for Pac-0, causing it 

to default on its operating line of credit and the Ostensons to default on 

their mortgage for the facility in January 2005. 

On March 8, 2005, Mr. Holzman, through GHI as the controlling 

and managing member fired the Ostensons from their positions with Pac- 

0 .  On July 27, 2005 Mr. Holzman, as the controlling and managing 

member of Pac-0, executed a frdudrrlcrlt Demand Promissory Note 

C'Notc") in favor of CHI in the amount of $1,023,009.38. The Note was 

also signed by Mr. Nolzman on behalf of GI31 as holder of the Note The 

amount of the Note was based in part on a series of itemized transactions 

totaling $978,009.38. Mr. IIolzman subsequently executed three 

agreements which seized all assets of Pac-O to satisfy the Note, leaving 

Pac-O an empty shell. 



Due to the financial crippling of Pac-O by GNI and on-going 

foreclosrure proceedings against them, the Ostensons, on January 7, 2007, 

filed a Voluntary Petition for Bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy 

Court for the Eastern District of Washington under Chapter 11 of the 

Bankruptcy Code. 

During the course of the Ostenson Bankruptcy, the Ostensons 

identified assets o' their bankruptcy estate to include unliquidated claims 

against Holzman, GHI, and Total Organic L1,C. In order to resolve these 

claims, all parties entercd into a Stipulation, signed by the Ostensons, and 

Mr. Holzman, on behalf of himself as well as his entities GHI, Pac-0, 

Pacific Organic Produce, Inc. and Total Organic. The Stipulation was 

approved by the Ba~~lcruptcy Court. 

Pursuant to the Stipulation, the Ostensons filed their Amended 

Crossclaims and Third Party Complaint ("Complainl"). The Co~nplaint 

asserts eight causes of action. The first seven causes of action are 

crossclaims by the Ostensons directly against Pac-O, including four claims 

for breach of contract, as well as three claims for recovery of unpaid 

compensation, failure to make distributiolls and breach of fiduciary d~itics. 

None of the seven causes of action name Mr. 1Iolzma11, GHI and Total 

Organic LLC as cross-defendants. The eighth cause of action ("Count 

Vllf") is a derivative claim brought by the Ostensons, as rnillority 



members of Pac-O against Mr. kIoIznlan, GIlI and Total Organic LLC. 

Pac-O is not naned as third party defendant in Count VIII. 

Trial in this matter commenced on July 11, 201 1 in Chelan County 

Superior Court before the Honorable Lesley A. Allan. After the 

Ostensons had presented their case in chieC Mr. Holzman and GI11 moved 

for dismissal pursuant to CR 41(b)(3), alleging, with respect to the 

derivative claim asserted in Count VIII, that the Ostensons lacked standing 

to bring the claim due to their bankruptcy filing. 

The trial court tooli the matter under advisement and Mr. Holz~nan 

began to introduce witnesses and evidence in defense. 

After a several month break in the trial due to the trial court's 

calendar, Mr. Holzman again renoted his motion to dismiss and on 

October 3, 2012; the trial court dismissed Count VIII, concludi~qg that 

because of their banltruptcy filing, the Ostellsons lacked standing to bring 

a derivative claim. The Ostensons subsequently moved for 

reconsideration, which was denied on Feb~uary 14, 2013. 

This appeal, seeking review of the dismissal of Count VIII, 

followed. 

11. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. The trial court erred in granting Respondents' motion to dismiss 

Count VIII pursuant to CR 41(b)(3). 



2. The trial court erred in concluding that by filing tl~eir Bankruptcy 

Petition the Ostensons relinquished their membership in Pac-0. 

3. The trial court erred in enforcing the dissociation provisiolls of 

RCW 25.15.130(l)(d)(ii) against the Ostensons. 

4. The trial court erred in concluding that the Ostensons lacked 

authority to assert the derivative claims set forth in Count VIII. 

5. The trial court erred in concluding that the Stipulation did not 

constitute the consent of the members of Pac-0 to continue as members 

allowing them to assert the derivative clainls set faith in Count VIII 

6. The trial court erred in concluding that Respondents' motion to 

dismiss purs~lant to CR 41(h)(3) was not barred by the doctrine of judicial 

estoppel. 

7. The trial court erred in concludi~~g that Respondents'  notion to 

dismiss pursuant to CR 41(h)(3) was not barred by the ctoctrine of 

collatcral estoppel. 

8. The trial court erred in concluding that Respondents' motion to 

dismiss pursuant to CR 41(h)(3) was not barred by the doctrine of res 

judicata. 

111. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

Whether Respondents waived their motion to dismiss pursuant to 

CR 41(b)(3) by presenting evidence on their behalf. 



Whether Appellants became dissociated from Pac-O as a result of 

their banlaupicy filing. 

Whether Appellants have standing as members of Pac-O to 

prosecute the derivative claim set forth in Count VIII. 

Whether the dissociation provision under RCW 25.15.130 is 

unenforceable under the Supremacy Clause of the United States 

Constitution and provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. 11 U.S.C. § 541, ei 

seq 

Whether Respondents. by stipulating that claims held by Pac-O 

could be brought against them, consented to the Ostensons' continued 

me~llbership in Pac-O notwithstanding their banlcruptcy filing. 

Whether Respondents are barred by the doctrine of judicial 

estoppel lrom contesting Appellants' standing to prosecute Count VIII. 

Whether Respondents are barred by the doctrine of collateral 

estoppel from contesting Appellants' standing to prosecute Count VIII 

Whether Respondents are barred by the doctrine of res judicata 

froin contesting Appellants' standing to prosecute Count VIII. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

This lawsuit, Norihwe~t Miholesale, Inc v Pac Organic fiuzt, 

LLC, et ai., Chelan County Superior Court Cause No. 07-2-00514-0, was 

con~menced on May 23, 2007. CP 4-9. The h'o~thwesi Wholesale 



Complaint named Pac-0, GHI, and Mr. and Mrs. Ostenson as defendants. 

CP 4-9. Northwest Wholesale, Inc. was a supplier of equipment to Pac-0 

that had previously obtained a judgment against Pac-0 in the amount d 

$301,797.76 during a time when Mr. Holzman, through GHI, was 

managing Pac-0. CP 4-9, The Nosthwest Wholesale Complaint sought to 

hold GHI and thc Ostensons liable for the judgment under theories of 

Fraudulent Conveyance and Constructive Fraudulent Transfer, alleging 

that the assets oS Pac-0 tiad been drained to avoid payment of creditors. 

CP 1-9. 

On July 25, 2009, the Ostensons filed their Crossclaims and Third 

Party Con~plaint. CP 35-53. On Septenlber 28, 2009, the Ostensons filed 

their Amended Crossclairns and Third Pasty Complaint ("Complaintn) CP 

476-493. 

The Complaint was filed pursuant lo a Stipulation which was 

cnlered into by the Ostensons and Mr. Holzman, on behalf of himself as 

well as his entitics GHI, Pac-0, Pacific Organic Produce, Inc. and Total 

Organic. The Stipulalion arose in the context d the Ostensons' Chapter 

11 banltruptcy, In re Ifurold T. O.slenson and Shirley M. Osienson, No. 

07-00058-FLKll ("Ostenson Bankruptcy") which was initiated on 



January 9, 2007. Defendants' Exhibit ("'Ex D-") 52 (Voluntary Petition). 

?'he First Amended Plan of Reorganization, liled by the Oste~isons on July 

3 1, 2007, identified assets of the banltruptcy estate to include unliquidated 

claims against Holzman, and GHI. Ex D-5 (Amended Plan). The 

Stipulation was intended to resolve various claims of the parties against 

each other. Ex D-5 (Stipulation). The Stipulation was approved by the 

Bankruptcy Court on August 18, 2008 and was incorporated into the 

Ostensons' First Amended Plan of Reorganization on August 28, 2008. 

Ex D-5 (Order and Amendment). In pertinent part, paragraph 7 of the 

Stipulation presewed the following causes ol'action: 

a. Any purported claims of the Ostensons against Pac-0, 
including, but not limited to, claims for ~~npa id  lease installments, 
wages, expense reimbursement, dividends, fruit proceeds, andlor 
failure to pay Keybank's linc of credit, provided that the Ostensons 
shall not be entitled to assert those purported claims, whether 
der~vatively or directly (including by way of a veil-piercing or 
similar theory) against Flolzman, GI31 or POP, such purported 
claims to be rclcased; and 

b. Any purported claims of Pac-O (and Pac-0 only) against 
Holzman, GHI, POP andlor Total Organic for their alleged fa i l~~re  
to pay packing fees, expenses, and revenues earned solely by Pac- 
O or fridt proceeds or rent due Pac-0 or for conversion of assets of 
Pae-0. 

Ex D-5 consists of lhur senarate documents which will be referred to as 
follows: (1) Order Approving Compromise Settlement and Shortening 
Timc to Object ("Order"); (2) Amendment to Debtor's First Ameuded 
Plan of Reorganization ("'Aniendment"); (3) Chapter 11 Voluntary Petition 
("Voluntary Petition"); and (4) First Amended Plan of Reorganization 
("Amended Plan"). The Stipulation at issue is attached to items 1 and 2. 
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Ex D-5 (Stipulation) 

With respect to these preserved claims, paragraph 7.c of the 

Stipulation specifically provided that such claims were to be asserted and 

pled in Chelan County Superior Court, Northwest Wholesale, Inc v Pac 

Organic Fruit, LLC et a1 ,No.  07-2-00514. Ex D-5 (Stipulation). 

The Complaint filed by the Ostensons was structured so as to 

comply with the provisions of the Stipulation. The Complaint asserts 

eight causes of actlon. The first seven causes of action ("Counts I - Vll") 

asscrt direct clai~lis against Pac-0 pursuant to paragraph 7.a of the 

Stipulation. Counts I -- VII consist of four claims for breach of contract, 

as well as three claims for recovery of unpaid compensation, failure to 

make distributions and breach of fiduciary duties. CP 484-487 

Count VIIl is a derivative claim brought by t l ~ e  Oste~iso~ls as 

minority members of Pac-0 against third party defendants, Mr. llolzman, 

GH1 and Total Organic pursuant to paragraph 7.b of the Stipulation. This 

cause of action seelcs recovery by Pac-0 of thc assets seized from Pac-0 

by Mr. I-Iolzman, GHI and Total Organic CP 488-490. 

In pertinent part, Count V11I alleged: 

11.10 Greg Holzman, Inc. has refused to execute documents in 
order to continue Pac Organic Fruit, LLC's financing 
arrangements, causing the conipany to be at risk for foreclosure 
actions by its bank. Demands that Greg Holzman, Inc. execute 



those documents have been to no avail, and attempting to persuade 
Greg Holznian, Inc. in his capacity as managing member of Pac 
Organic Fruit, LLC to sue himself for inismanagement would be 
futile. 

1 1.1 1 Greg Ilolzman, Inc., as marlaging member of Pac Organic 
Fruit, LLC, has terminated and excluded Ilarold Ostenson, the 
general manager and Shirley Ostenson, the company's controller 
from the company's operations. In their stead, Greg Holzman, Inc. 
has engaged in management practices that have destroyed the 
capacity of Pac Organic Fruit, LLC to operate in a profitable 
manner, all to the damage to Pac Organic Fruit, LLC in an an~ount 
to be proven at the time of trial. Any attempts to have Greg 
Holzman, Inc.. as managing member, sue itself for 
unisinanagcrnent would be futile. 

11.12 Greg Holzman, Inc., as managing member of Pac Organic 
Fruit, I,LC, has unlawfully transferred the assets of Pac Organic 
Fruit, LLC to various entities which are controlled by Greg 
Holzman. including, but not limited to, Greg I-lolzrnan, Inc. and 
Total Organic LLC, all to the damage to Pac Organic Fruit, LLC in 
an amount to be proven at the time of trial. Any attempts to have 
Greg I-lolzman, Inc., as managing member, sue itself for 
~nismanagenlent would be futile. 

11.13 Greg I-lolzrnan, individually, as tile controlling sllarcholder 
of Greg Holzman, Inc., owed a fiduciary duty to Pac Organic Fruit, 
LLC to control the operations of his closely held corporation in a 
manner not to cause dailiage to Pac Organic Fruit, LLC and its 
menibers. Greg Holzman, individually, has breached his duty to 
Pac Organ~c Fruit, LLC a id  has caused the company to sustain 
damages in an amount to be proved at trial. 

Trial commenced on .Iuly 1 1, 201 1. Harold Ostenson and Paul M. 

Fruci, CPA were called as witnesses during the Ostensons' case in chiel' 

Mr. Ostcnson first met Greg Holzman in 1997. liP 54: 1-4. Mr. 



Holzma~l was in the organic brokerage business (GHI) and wanted to 

expand his operatiolls in Washington. RP 54:15-23. Initially, Mr. 

Iiolzman proposed a partnership where Mr. Ostenson would operate a 

business packing and storing organic fruit which Mr. Holzman would sell. 

KP 55:lO-15. Over the next six months, Mr. Ostenson discussed this 

proposal with Mr. Holzrna~~. RP 55:22-56:16. On May 29, 1998, the 

operating company, Pac-O was formed. KP 56:19-23, Plaiiltiffs' Exhibit 

("Ex P-") 25. The Ostensons owned 49% of Pac-O while Holzman's 

company, GHI, owned 51%. Ex P-26. Because Mr. Holzman did not 

want to ow11 property in the State of Washington, the Ostensons would 

own the packing house in Grant Coullty which would be leased by Pac-0. 

RP 59:16-21; 60:7-9; 61:18-24. On December 28, 1999, Pac-O entered 

into a triple net Lease with the Ostensons. RP at 62:l-6; P-27. The term 

of the Lease was 20 years, with monthly payments beginning at $8,200. 

RP 62:17-24; P-27. Although the facility originally would operate as a 

three-month packing shed, the envisioned goal was to establish Pac-O as a 

year-round operation. RP 63:ll-24. To accolnplish this, a million dollar 

loail was obtained and improvements to the facility made from May to 

August of 1998, adding three pacliing lines. increasing the cold storage 

facilities fourfold and constructing four controlled atmosphere ("CA") 

rooms. RP 64:l-4; 66:14-6 7:10. 'lhe loan was personally guaranteed by 



the Ostenso~ls and Mr. Holznian. TR at 67: 13-1 5 

Mr. Ostenson confirmed that the business operations of Pac-O 

were represented by Ex P-I, a flow chart introduced for demonstrative 

purposes at trial, which illustrated the following process: (1) Growers 

would deliver produce to Pac-O for packing and storage; (2) GI11 would 

sell produce to distributors; (3) The distributor would pay GHI Tor the 

produce; (4) Pac-O would make delivery of the produce to the di~tributor;~ 

(5) CHI would remit sales proceeds less the commission earned by CHI to 

Pae-0; and (6) Pac-O Fruil would pay the growers for their produce. RP 

53:18-24; F,x P-1. 

Under this business model, Pac-O operations began to grow. 

According to Mr. Ostenson, the Profit and Loss Statement for Pac-O from 

1998 through 2004 showed that the business steadily grew in total income 

from $187,220.45 in 1998 to $3,244,523.50 in 2004. Mr. Ostenson further 

noted the number of bins packed similarly increased from 491 in 1998 to 

24,539 in 2004 and the number of growers serviced rose fiom 3 in 1998 to 

over 30 in 2004. RP 73:22-73:l-16; P-28. Mr. Ostenson estimated that 

the net profit in 2005 would exceed $324,000. RP 78:3-5. 

3 This fourth step recognizes a correction noted by counsel for GHI and 
Holzman. RP at 23: 19-21. 
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In order to accommodate the increase in business, Pac-0 entered 

into a Controlled Atmosphere Lease Agreement ("CA Lease") to lease CA 

rooms in a facility located in Valley Forge, Washington, effective May 1, 

2000. The entire facility consisted of twelve CA rooms. Pursuant to the 

terms of the CA Lease, Pac-0 would initially lease four CA rooms, 

increasing the number of CA rooms leased by two every two years 

thereafter. When all twelve rooms had been leased, Pac-0 would have an 

option to purchase the entire facility. RP 140:3-142:2; P-29. 

111 2004, GHI was beginning to experience cash flow problems. 

RP 88:ll-20. As a result, in August of 2004, the business model was 

changed so that instead of GHI remitting sales proceeds to Pac-0 and Pac- 

0 paying the growers, GHI retained all sales proceeds and began paying 

growers directly. RI' 89:17-91:4. Thc records of GI-I1 confir~ned monies 

owed by G'II to Pac-0 steadily increased d~lring 2004 from $3 10,560.63 

in January lo $717,816.88 in April to $833,272.73 in May. RP 93:15- 

95:15; Ex P-4. 

Further, records of Pac-0 showed that, as of April 19, 2005, GHI 

owed Pac-0 $1,017,380.22 which was never paid. RP 96:20-98:25; 99:4- 

7; Ex. P-5. Records produced by GHI reflected the decreasing payments 

to Pac-0 in 2004, from $502,411.90 in July to $72,494.82 in August to 

nothing in September. Rl' 105:19-106:22; Ex P-6. 



By September of 2004. Pac-O was packing inore than 24,000 bins 

but CHI was increasingly unable to sell the produce, so that inventory kept 

increasing, necessitating contacting other brokers to assist in sales. By 

November of 2004, given GHI's rate of sales, Mr. Ostenson estimated that 

150,000 boxes of produce would remain unsold. RP 150: 12-155: 13. 

On January I ,  2005, Pac-O defaulted on its operating line of credit 

because I-Iol~man refused to sign the guarantee which the Ostensons had 

signed IW 155: 16-157:24. Additionally. because payments to Pac-O 

were being withheld by GHI, Pac-0, on January 5, 2005, defaulted on its 

lease payments, thereby causing the Ostensons to default on the mortgage. 

Key Rank subsequently began foreclosure proceedings on the packing 

shed and the Ostensons' orchard. RP 157:25-I 58:25; 162:4-24. 

On March 8, 2005, Mr. Holzman fired the Ostensons from their 

positio~~s with Pac-0. RP 159:7-25. 

On July 27, 2005, unknown to the Ostensons, Mr. Holzman. as the 

managing member of Pac-0, executed a Demand Promissory Note 

("Note") in favor or  GHI in the amount of $1,023,009.38. l h c  Note was 

also signed by Mr. Holzman on behalf of GHI as holder of the Note. Ex 

- 9  The amount of the Note was based in part on a series of itemized 

transactions totaling $978,009.38. Ex P-9 at G024858-GO24859 Mr. 

Holzman subsequently executed three agreements which seized all assets 
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of Pac-0 to ostensibly satisfy the Note. The agreeivrents to accept 

collateral were dated September 2, 2005, January 7, 2006 and March 3 1, 

2006. Each agreement was signed by Mr. Holzman on behalf of GI31 and 

Pac-0. Ex P-9 at G024865-G024872. Mr. Ostenson was unaware of the 

conversion of assets until May 10, 2006. RP 116:6-9; 118:i 1-14. 

According to Mr. Ostenson, the transaction list supporting the Note was

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