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

terminated the LLC. 11 8 B.R. at 61 1. As a result, the member's interest 

itself terminated. id. at 609-10. By contrast here, neither the Ostensons 

nor the Holzman Parties have ever suggested that Pac Organic was 

somehow dissolved when the Osteilsons filed for bankruptcy. Nor does 

RCW 25.15.130(1)(d) suggest that the Ostensons' interests in Pac Organic 

were thereby terminated. 

In the context of the rather harsh operations of Nebraska law-- 

which are very different from Washington law-the Daugherty court 

concluded that 5 541(c)(l) preempted the state law. 118 B.R. at 61 1. The 

court then went on to find that the operating agreement was an executory 

contract because the one member was obligated to provide additional 

capital an the other was obligated to provide services. Id. at 612. As 

argued above, Pac Organic's operating agreement places no such 



obligations upon the Ostensons-who do not argue to the contrar- 

rendering Daugllerty of dubious value in analogizing to this case. The two 

are completely different. 

Another case the Ostensons cite is In re Warner, 480 B.R. 641 

(Bankr. N.D.W. Va. 2012), which, like Daughterty, considered the 

provision of an operating agreement under which the company dissolved 

when a member filed for bankruptcy, unlike the agreement here. 480 B.R. 

at 655. The court determined that 5  541(c)(l) invalidated that provision. 

Id. Significantly, in addressing the interplay between $ 5  365 and 541, the 

court noted: "The court is presently reluctant to embrace the concept that 

if 365 is inapplicable then 5  541(c)(l) 'acts to render . . . [state and 

contract] restrictions and conditions unenforceable as against the Trustee." 

Id. at 649 n.5. The court continued: "Section 541(c)(l) does not define the 

bundle of rights that go with property or invalidate provisions that provide 

the parameters on which a trustee can sell a debtor's interest in property." 

Id. The section "is a provision of general application," merely invaliding 

"restrictions on the transfer of property of to the estate." Id. 

The Warner court thus notes a tension between the two sections if 

interpreted as the Ostensons demand. As argued above, $ 5  365(c)(l) and 

(e)(2), in tandem with Washington law, allow non-bankrupt menlbers of 

an LLC to refuse to grant membership status to an assignee, including the 



trustee in bankruptcy. If 5 541(c)(l) nevertheless includes as property 

rights in the bankruptcy estate, it renders the other two provisions 

superfluous and, in fact, writes them out of the statute. The better 

interpretation, as recognized by Garrison-Ashburn, recognizes that state 

law defines what the debtor's interests are, including disassociation, then 

5 541 brings them into the estate, burdened by whatever state law requires. 

Once in the estate, S; 365 applies to determine what may be done with 

executory contracts, should the particular operating agreement fall into 

that category. 

One final note: none of these cases addresses the particular 

circumstance here. There is no dispute regarding the management rights 

of Pac Organic. There is no dispute that the Ostensons retain the full 

econo~nic rights of their interest in Pac Organic. What is at issue is the 

Ostensons' right to bring a derivative action on behalf of Pac Organic, a 

right that necessarily benefits someone other than the Ostensons. Under 

5 541(b)(l), the debtor's bankruptcy estate specifically does not include 

"any power that the debtor may exercise solely for the benefit of an entity 

other than the debtor," which, by definition; includes a derivative claim, 

whose sole purpose is to benefit the entity. See Section D, inza. Because 

the Ostensons' bankruptcy estate, which is the plaintiff in this ease, does 



not possess this authority to bring a derivative claim, the trial court 

properly disnlissed that cause of action. 

All of these provisions add up to the conclusion that state law 

burdens, including disassociation, define the Ostensons' property interest, 

which was then included in their bankruptcy estate. The Ostensons' 

preeinptioii arguments to the contrary are meritless. As the Ostensons 

were disassociated from Pac Organic under Washington law, they do not 

possess the right to maintain a derivative claiin on behalf of Pac Orgaiiic. 

This Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of that cause of action 

and refusal to reconsider its decision. 

3. The Stipulation Does Not Evidence the Holzman Parties' 
Consent to the Ostensons' Continued Status as Members of Pae 
Organic. 

The Ostensons' primary argument challenging the trial court's 

order granting the CR 41(b)(3) motion-as opposed to the order denying 

the motion for reconsideration-is that the Stipulatioil served as the 

Holzman Parties' consent to the continued membership of the Ostensons 

in Pac Organic, thus satisfying the requirements of RCW 25.15.130(d). 

But as the trial court ruled, the Stipulation is silent on the issue and cannot 

be construed as that consent. 

The trial court's unchallenged findings of fact state: 



There is no language in the Stipulation which preserves the 
Ostensons' status as members of Pac 0. The Stipulation 
contains no language whereby Pac 0 or the ISolzman 
Defendants, as signatories to that document, consented to 
relieve the Ostensons from the effects of the dissociation 
from Pac 0 which resulted under RCW 5 25.15.130(1)(d) 
when they filed for bankruptcy, or which authorized the 
Ostensons derivatively to assert any claims against the 
Holzman Defendants on Pac 0 's  behalf. 

CP 2046 (7 5). Nor is it surprising that the Ostensons chose not to 

challenge this finding. The plain language of the Stipulation confirn~s this 

finding, CP 1807-09, as it speaks only of claims of Pac Organic, not of the 

Ostensons: "'This Stipulation does not affect or release the following 

claims: . . . Any purported claims of Pac-0 (and Pac-0 only) against 

Holzman, GNI, POP, andor Total Organic for their alleged failure to pay 

packing fees, expenses, and revenues earned solely by Pac-0 or fruit 

proceeds or rent due Pac-0 or for conversion of assets of Pac-0." CP 

If the parties had intended to negate the normal workings of 

Washington law, one would expect to see explicit mention of the 

substance of that consent. For example, the Stipulation should discuss the 

default disassociation under RCW 25.15.130 and the parties' intent to 

contrary. It doesn't. Next, the Stipulation should recitc GHI's (as Pac 

Organic's only other member) explicit consent to the Ostenstons' 



bankruptcy, as the statute's plain languages  indicate^.^ It doesn't. Also, 

the Stipulation should state that the Ostensons retain the right to assert a 

derivative claim against the I-Iolzman Parties on behalf of Pac Organic, 

notwithstanding the disassociation accomplished by state law. Again. it 

doesn't. The Stipulation says nothing whatsoever about any of these 

matters because it is not the written consent corltemplated by the statute. 

Rather, the Stipulation preserves the right of the Ostensons to 

pursue claims against Pac Organic, but specifically does not allow them to 

assert claim "derivatively or directly (including by way of veil-piercing or 

similar theory) against Holzman, GI-I1 or POP, such purported claims to be 

released." CP 1808. It also preserves the right of Pac Organic (and o~ily 

Pac Organic) to assert limited claims against the Holzman Parties. Finally 

and most importantly, the Stipulation operates as a full and final release 

between the Ostensons and the Holzman Parties of all claims not 

specifically exempted. CP 1808 (7 5). The trial court was correct to 

conclude that the Stipulation "simply does not address the question" of the 

Holzman Parties' consent to the Ostensons' bankruptcy sufficient to 

override the disassociation accomplished under state law. CP 2048. 

7 See RCW 25.15.130(1) ("A person ceases to be a member of a limited liability 
company . . . upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events: . . . unless . . . 
with the written consent of all other members at the time, the member . . . files a 
voluntary petition in bankruptcy . . . ." (emphasis added)). The statute requires the 
member to file bankruptcy "with" the other members' written consent. The Ostensons 
certainly did not file bankruptcy with the written consent of the Holzman Parties. 



In response, the Ostensons simply assert the Stipulation serves as 

the Holzman Parties' consent to a derivative action. Beyond this 

unsupported assertion, their argument is hard to follow. Appellant's Br. at 

34-35. It is true that thc Holzman Parties did not believe Pac Organic had 

any valid claims against them. But the Ostensons do not show how this 

fact proves GHI consented to their continued membership in Pac Organic 

and their ability to assert derivative claims. Nor can they, as any such 

consent must, per the statute, be in writing, and no language in the 

Stipulation evidences that intent. 

Beyond this non sequitur, the Ostensons suggest that apart from 

their prosecution of a derivative claim, the claims of Pac Organic against 

the Holzman Parties would never be asserted and the Stipulation must be 

construed to avoid this result. Of course, this simply is not true. Not only 

could the Ostensons put Pac Organic in bankruptcy, wherein the trustee 

could pursue whatever claims of Pac Organic that had merit, the 

Ostensons could seek the appointment of a receiver (under RCW ch. 7.60) 

to take control of Pac Organic for the same purpose. Either course would 

protect the rights of Pac Organic, but they would deprive the Ostensons of 

control. The Ostensons want this control, largely because it allows them 

to circumvent the Stipulations release of direct claims against the Holzman 

Parties and seek direct recovery for themselves. Clearly, the Holzman 



Parties thought such claims were released and would never have agreed to 

the Ostensons' ability to recover indirectly what they had directly released. 

As the trial court correctly determined, the Stipulation says nothing 

whatsoever about the Holzman Parties' consenting to the Ostensons' 

bankruptcy, continued membership in Pac Organic, or authority to assert 

derivative claims. This Court should affirm. 

C. The Ostensons' 'rrio of Estoppel Aments Is Meritless. 

The Ostensons finish with a set of arguments premised on various 

estoppel theories, all of which are entirely meritless. Their basic 

argument-common to all three theories-is as follows: (1) the 

Stipulation permits the Ostensons to assert these derivative claims on 

behalf of Pac Organic; (2) the Holzman Parties so agreed; and (3) the 

bankruptcy court approved the Stipulation, so any position taken by the 

Holzma~l Parties in this litigation to the contrary is estopped. While the 

bankruptcy court did approve the Stipulation, that document does not 

pennit the Ostensons to bring derivative claims, nor did the I-Iolzman 

Parties so consent. 

In essence, these estoppel arguments assume the Ostensons' 

interpretation of the Stipulation is correct. To the contrary, as argued 

above and as determined by the trial court, their position is wrong. If the 

Ostensons were correct regarding the Stipulation-but they are not-they 



win on that basis, and the estoppel arguments are entirely superfluous. If 

the Ostensons are wrong-and they are-these arguments make no sense. 

Each specific argument is addressed in turn 

1. The Holzman Parties Are Not Judicially Estopped. 

Judicial estoppel prevents a party from taking one position in court, 

then taking an inconsistent position in a subsequent case. Johnson v. Si- 

Cor Inc., 107 Wn. App. 902, 906, 28 P.3d 832 (2001) ("The purposes of 

the doctrine are to preserve respect for judicial proceedings . . . and to 

avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and the waste of time."). To prevail on a 

judicial estoppel argument, the proponent must prove the following 

factors: 

(I) The incollsistent position tirst asserted must have been 
successfully maintained; 
(2) a judgment must have been rendered; 
(3) the positions must be clearly inconsistcnt; 
(4) the parties and questions must be the samc; 
(5) the party claiming estoppel must have been misled and have 
changed his position; 
(6) it must appear unjust to one party to permit the other to change. 

Id. (quoting Markley v. Markley, 31 Wn.2d 605, 614-15, 198 P.2d 486 

(1948)). Under these factors, the Ostensons cannot prove they are entitled 

to relief 

First and foremost, the Holzman Parties have never taken the 

position that Ostensons were permitted to file derivative claims on behalf 



of Pac Organic. Indeed, they have coilsistently taken the opposite position. 

As argued, the Stipulation itself is silent on the issue. Further, the 

Holzman Parties filed a motion in the bankruptcy court to define the extent 

of the bankruptcy estate, raising the disassociatioil issues under 

Washington law. CP 2267-71, 2279-95. The Ostensons, however 

opposed the motion and argued that issue should be decided by the trial 

court in this action. CP 2299-2300, 2320-21. The Holzman Parties 

acquiesced, and the issue was raised and decided in the trial court below. 

Next, as noted, the bankruptcy court did not decide the issue, 

rendering it inlpossihle that the Holzman Parties "successfully" 

maintained their position and that a "judgment" was entered. In fact, the 

I-Iolzman Parties never sought any ruling in the bankruptcy court regarding 

the Stipulation; the Ostensons did, as the Stipulation was not binding 

without court approval. See Defendants' Ex. 5; see also Skinner v. 

Holgate, 141 Wn. App. 840, 848, 173 P.3d 300 (2007) (noting that one of 

the elements of judicial estoppel is the requirement that a "party 

successfully persuaded a court to accept the party's earlier position"). The 

bankruptcy court's approval of the Stipulation did not address the 

disassociation issue nor the authority of the Ostensons to assert derivative 

claims, Defendants' Ex. 5, serving simply as the approval required under 

the bankruptcy rules for the Ostensons to enter such an agreement. See 



Fed. R. Bankr. P. 9019. This order hardly constitutes a decision on the 

merits. 

Nor could the Ostensons have been misled, given the Holzman 

Parties' eo~lsistent positioll on the matter. And justice is hardly preserved 

by preventing the Holzman Parties from continuing in their constantly 

held position. Indeed, justice would be thwarted by a contrary ruling. The 

doctrine of judicial estoppel simply does not apply to these facts 

2. The Holzman Parties Are Not Collaterally Estopped. 

Much of the same can be said in response to the Ostensons' 

collateral estoppel argument. This doctrine prevents parties from 

relitigating issues that were previously decided on the merits, requiring 

proof of four elements: 

(1) identical issues; (2) a final judgment on the merits; (3) 
the party against whom the plea is asserted must have been 
a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; 
and (4) application of the doctrine must not work an 
injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be 
applied. 

Hadley v. Maxwell, 144 Wn.2d 306, 311, 27 P.3d 600 (2001); see also 

Clark v. Baines, 150 Wn.2d 905, 913, 84 P.3d 245 (2004) ("The 

determination of whether application of collateral estoppel will work an 

injustice oil the party against whom the doctrine is asserted-the fourth 

element-depends primarily on whether the parties to the earlier 



proceeding received a full and fair hearing on the issue in question." 

(quotation marks omitted)). 

The fatal flaw in the Ostensons' position is that the disassociation 

issue was never decided in the bankruptcy court. For the reasons stated 

above, the Stipulation does not address the issue, and the bankruptcy court 

never addressed the issue. Indeed, the trial court in this litigation decided 

the issue only because the Hol7man Parties acquiesced in the Ostensons' 

request to transfer the issue here. For the Ostensons to then argue a 

contrary position is simply incredible. Collateral estoppel does not bar the 

Holzman Parties in any way. 

3. The Holzman Parties Are Not Barred by Res Judicata. 

Like collateral estoppel, "res judicata applies to what has been 

decided." Hilltop Terrace Homeowner's Ass'n v Island Cnty , 126 Wn.2d 

22, 32, 891 P.2d 29 (1995). For the same reasons given above, namely, 

that nothing was previously decided on this issue, res judicata has no 

application to this case.

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